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PUBLISHED OPINION OF THE COURT

Before WOODARD, HUTCHISON, and CRISFIELD,
Appellate Military Judges.

Chief Judge WOODARD delivered the opinion of the Court, in which
Senior Judge HUTCHISON and Judge CRISFIELD joined.

WOODARD, Chief Judge:

The appellant was convicted, consistent with his pleas, of three specifica-
tions of viclating a lawful general order, two specifications of making false
official statements, and two specifications of willfully communicating infor-
mation relative to the national defense of the United States to a person not
entitled to receive it, in violation of Articles 92, 107, and 134, Uniform Code
of Military Justice (UCMJ), 10 U.S.C. §§ 892, 907, and 934.2

On appeal, the appellant raises three assignments of error: (1) he was de-
nied his right to a speedy trial as required by Article 10, UCMJ; (2) the mili-
tary judge abused his discretion by admitting into evidence as aggravation
damages caused by his misconduct that were hypathetical in nature; and (3)
his sentence was inappropriately severe. Although not raised by the parties,
we find that the Court-Martial Order (CMQO) contains error and direct correc-
tive action in our decretal paragraph. After careful consideration of the entire
record, we find no merit in the assigned errors and affirm the findings and
sentence.

I. BACKGROUND

On 11 September 2015, as the appellant was about to board a flight from
Honolulu to the People’s Republic of China, agents from the Naval Criminal
Investigative Service (NCIS) and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI)
arrested the appellant. At the time of his arrest, the appellant had been the
subject of a fifteen-month-long counterintelligence investigation. Prior to at-
tempting to board his China-bound flight, law enforcement officers discovered
that the appellant had concealed his true destination from his command by

2 The two Article 134, UCMJ, specifications of willfully communicating infor-
mation relative to the national defense of the United States were charged as viola-
tions of 18 U.S.C. § 793(d}.
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completing a false leave request form indicating that he would be traveling to
Alexandria, Virginia, his home of record.

The counterintelligence investigation also revealed that this was not the
first time the appellant concealed foreign travel from his command. In Octo-
ber 2013, after requesting and receiving leave to travel to Alexandria, Virgin-
ia, the appellant instead traveled to Taiwan. Prior to traveling to Taiwan, the
appellant had arranged to meet with a senior Taiwanese military officer and
several other Taiwanese officers of lesser rank.

Upon being taken into custody, the appellant was questioned, amongst
other things, about his planned activities in China. Over the course of two
days of questioning, which was recorded by law enforcement, he explained
that he planned to meet a local national female, whom he had met on an
online dating site and whom he knew to be a Chinese government employee.

The appellant also admitted that, despite not disclosing them to his com-
mand security officer, he had close relationships with several foreign persons,
including several registered foreign agents and some he believed to be foreign
agents. He corresponded and conversed with these foreign agents about Unit-
ed States policy and positions. He was particularly open in his communica-
tions with two women with whom he conversed. With these women, he
shared classified information concerning operational plans, policies, missions,
and capabilities of the United States military.

Unbeknownst to the appellant, one of the women he believed to be a for-
eign agent and with whom he communicated and shared classified infor-
mation was actually an undercover United States law enforcement counterin-
telligence agent. As part of the investigation, the undercover agent recorded
approximately 10 hours of conversations with the appellant, a substantial
portion in Mandarin Chinese.

The appellant’s mishandling of classified information, however, was not
limited to his discussions with these women. He also mishandled classified
documents. While returning on a commercial flight from a deployment in
February 2015, the appellant placed classified materials in his checked bags.
A Department of Homeland Security officer found the classified documents
while conducting an inspection of the appellant’s checked luggage and con-
fronted the appellant about the documents. The appellant admitted to failing
to maintain proper security of the classified documents, asked the officer to
dispose of the documents, and left the documents with the officer. The appel-
lant admitted that he did not know whether the officer had the required
clearance to view or possess the classified documents. The appellant failed to
inform his command of this compromise of classified documents. Additionally,
classified materials were also discovered at the appellant’s home during a
search.
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The appellant was placed into pretrial confinement on 11 September
2015, the day he was apprehended attempting to board a flight to China. Fol-
lowing his apprehension, the appellant spent 249 days in pretrial confine-
ment before his arraignment, and a total of 630 days before his sentence was
announced. Additional facts necessary for the resolution of the issues raised
will be discussed below.

I1. DISCUSSION

A. Speedy Trial

At trial, the appellant filed a motion to dismiss with prejudice the charges
against him due to the government’s violation of his RULE FOR COURTS-
MARTIAL (R.C.M.) 707, MANUAL FOR COURTS-MARTIAL, UNITED STATES (2016
ed.) and Article 10, UCMJ, right to a speedy trial. Finding that the govern-
ment had complied with the requirements of both R.C.M. 707 and Article 10,
UCMJ, the military judge denied the appellant’s motion to dismiss. In deny-
ing the motion, the military judge issued a 19-page written ruling addressing
his essential findings of fact and conclusions of law. On appeal, the appellant
again asserts that the government violated his Article 10, UCMJ, right to a
speedy trial by failing to exercise reasonable diligence to bring him to trial
following his arrest.? However, unlike his complaint at trial where he argued
the government’s lack of diligence only extended to the date of his arraign-
ment, on appeal he now asserts that the government’s lack of diligence ex-
tended to the date his sentence was announced. We conclude that the gov-
ernment was diligent in bringing the appellant to trial and that the appel-
lant’s unconditional guilty plea waived any post-arraignment speedy trial vio-
lation claim.

The appellant’s guilty plea was unconditional.* Generally, an uncondi-
tional guilty plea “waives any speedy trial issue as to that offense.” R.C.M.
707(e); see United States v. Tippit, 65 M.J. 69, 75 (C.A.A.F. 2007). However,
Article 10, UCMJ, “provides a narrow exception to the normal rule that a
speedy trial motion is waived by an unconditional guilty plea.” Id. (citing
United States v. Mizgala, 61 M.J. 122, 126 (C.A.A.F. 2005)). A speedy trial

3 On appeal, the appellant does not raise any error related to the military judge's
R.C.M 707 ruling.

4 See Record at 704.
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claim under Article 10, UCMJ, is not waived by a subsequent guilty plea
when an appellant litigates that claim at trial. Id. at 127.

Article 10, UCMJ, provides:

When any person subject to this chapter is placed in arrest or
confinement prior to trial, immediate steps shall be taken to in-
form him of the specific wrong of which he is accused and to try
him or to dismiss the charges and release him.

Whether the appellant's Article 10, UCMJ, right to a speedy trial has
been violated is a question of law we review de nouvo, “giving substantial def-
erence to a military judge’s findings of fact that will be reversed only if they
are clearly erroneous.” Mizgala, 61 M.J. at 127 (citing United States v.
Cooper, 58 M.J. 54, 57-59 (C.A.A.F. 2003); United States v. Doty, 51 M.J. 464,
465 (C.A.AF. 1999)).

1. Waiver of post-arraignment claim

At trial, the appellant focused his unsuccessful speedy trial claim on the
period of time from his arrest to arraignment—11 September 2015 to 17 May
2016—and did not later reassert his claim based on any post-arraignment
delay before entering his unconditional guilty plea. Although it is well-settled
law that the government’s speedy trial obligations do not terminate at ar-
raignment, Cooper, 58 M.J. at 61, as an initial matter, we first consider
whether the appellant limited his claim at trial to just pre-arraignment de-
lay. If he did, then we must determine if by doing so, he waived appellate re-
view of any new Article 10, UCMJ, claims attacking the government’s lack of
diligence post-arraignment.

We find the appellant limited his Article 10, UCMJ, claim at trial to the
period of time between his arrest and his arraignment. In accordance with
the agreed upon Trial Management Order, the appellant filed his motion to
dismiss on speedy trial grounds on 26 June 2016. The motion was litigated on
9 August 2016. During the proceedings on the motion, the military judge cor-
rectly noted that the “Article 10 concern runs to the date of trial, not merely
to arraignment.”® When questioned by the military judge whether the defense
had any post-arraignment speedy trial concerns, the appellant’s defense
counsel stated that he did not have any speedy trial concerns post-

5 Record at 363-25. We note that due to the many classified proceedings in this
case that the trial transcript page numbering system often involved a hyphenated
page numbering format.



United States v. Lin, No. 201700303

arraignment.® The defense counsel also acknowledged that the defense had
not previously voiced any objection to any post-arraignment excludable delay
granted.? And he acknowledged that the defense “could renew [the Article 10,
UCMJ,] motion . .. if we have new evidence of . . . delay or lack of due dili-
gence on the part of the government in proceeding to trial. I don’t have that
at this time.”® On 12 August 2016, the military judge rendered his written
ruling denying the speedy trial motion. In his ruling the military judge specif-
ically found that the appellant had limited the motion to the time between
apprehension and arraignment.? At no time following the issuance of the mil-
itary judge’s ruling did the appellant make any further speedy trial violation
claims prior to the adjournment of his court-martial.

As stated by the court in Mizgala, an appellant’s unconditional guilty plea
does not waive “his right to contest the military judge's denial of his Article
10 motion on appeal.” Mizgala, 61 M.J. at 127 (emphasis added). Further, as
this court has previously opined, Mizgala stands for the proposition that only
those Article 10, UCMJ, issues litigated at trial survive a waiver stemming
from an unconditional guilty plea. United States v. Dubouchet, 63 M.J. 586,
588 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 2006). Here, by raising it and litigating it at trial,
the appellant’s Article 10, UCMJ, speedy trial claim preserved for appellate
review was his pre-arraignment claim. By failing to raise or litigate his newly
asserted post-arraignment speedy trial claims at trial, we conclude that ap-
pellant’s unconditional guilty plea has, like it did in Dubouchet, waived ap-
pellate review of that issue. See id. Accordingly, we will focus our review on
the Article 10, UCMJ, speedy trial violation claim made by the appellant and
denied by the military judge at trial, and analyze the appellant’s claim under
the factors articulated in Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514 (1972).

2. Barker analysis of preserved pre-arraignment claim of error

When an accused is in pretrial confinement, Article 10, UCMJ, does not
demand “constant motion,” but does impose on the government the standard
of “reasonable diligence in bringing the charges [lodged against him or her] to
trial” Mizgala, 61 M.J. at 127 (citation omitted). In assessing whether the
government has acted with “reasonable diligence in proceeding to trial,” our

6 Jd. at 363-25.
71Id. at 363-23.
8 Id. at 363-26.
9 AL LIV at 15,
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superior court has held that the four factors identified by the Supreme Court
in Barker “are an apt structure for examining the facts and circumstances
surrounding an alleged Article 10 violation.” Mizgala, 61 M.J. at 127 (cita-
tions omitted). The four Barker factors are: “(1) the length of delay; (2) the
reasons for the delay; (3) whether appellant made a demand for a speedy tri-
al; and (4) prejudice to the appellant.” United States v. Schuber, 70 M.J. 181,
188 (C.A.A.F. 2011) (citation omitted).

Upon review, we find the military judge’s findings of fact in support of his
decision denying the appellant’s Article 10, UCMJ, speedy trial claim are
supported by the record, not clearly erroneous, and we adopt them as our
own. 10

a. Length of delay

The initial question is whether the 249-day delay between the initiation of
the appellant’s pretrial confinement and his arraignment was unreasonable.
In determining how Barker’s first factor affects our inquiry, “we consider the
particular circumstances of the [appellant's] case because ‘the delay that can
be tolerated for an ordinary street crime is considerably less™ than that
which can be tolerated for more serious, complex cases. United States v. Coo-
ley, 75 M.J. 247, 260 (C.A.A.F. 2016) (quoting Barker, 407 U.S. at 531). The
length of the delay has been described by our superior court as a “triggering
mechanism” for a speedy trial review and can be dispositive. Cooley, 75 M.d.
at 260 (citing United States v. Cossio, 64 M.J. 254, 257 (C.A.A.F. 2007)).
When determining whether the length of delay is reasonable, the analysis:

“is not meant to be a Barker analysis within a Barker analysis,”
but should include the seriousness of the offense, the complexi-
ty of the case, the availability of proof, and “additional circum-
stances includ[ing] whether Appellant was informed of the ac-
cusations against him, whether the [glovernment complied
with procedures relating to pretrial confinement, and whether
the [glovernment was responsive to requests for reconsidera-
tion of pretrial confinement.”

Cooley, 75 M.J. at 260 (quoting Schuber, 70 M.J. at 188) (citing Barker, 407
U.S. at 530-31, 531 n.31).

16 See AE LIV.
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In conducting our Barker analysis, “we remain mindful that we are look-
ing at the proceeding as a whole and not mere speed: ‘The essential ingredi-
ent is orderly expedition and not mere speed.” Mizgala, 61 M.J. at 129 (quot-
ing United States v. Mason, 45 C.M.R. 163, 167 (C.M.A. 1972). “[U]nless there
is a period of delay that appears, on its face, to be unreasonable under the
circumstances, there is no necessity for inquiry into the other factors that go
into the balance.” Schuber, 70 M.J. at 188,

Here, we conclude 249 days between the initiation of the appellant’s con-
finement and his arraignment is beyond what we would normally expect for a
general court-martial and is sufficient to trigger analysis of the remaining
Barker factors. However, under the circumstances of the appellant’s case, we
find that this period of delay was not unreasonable.

The appellant’s case involved extremely serious crimes, with very sensi-
tive and complex evidentiary concerns. The appellant was charged with two
specifications of espionage—one of the most serious crimes under the UCMJ
as made evident by its maximum punishment of death. Further, when the
appellant was placed into pretrial confinement, he was informed of the accu-
sations against him, and the government complied with all pretrial confine-
ment procedures. Additionally, although the appellant waived his right to be
present at his pretrial confinement hearing, when the appellant requested
reconsideration of his pretrial confinement status, the government was re-
sponsive to his request.

b. Reasons for the delay

Under the second factor in the Barker analysis, “different weights should
be assigned to different reasons” articulated for the delay. Cooley, 75 M.J. at
260 (citing Barker, 407 U.S. at 531). Deliberate attempts by the government
to delay the proceedings in order to hamper the defense weigh heavily
against the government. Id. In analyzing the reasons for delay, we also
acknowledge that the government “has the right (if not the obligation) to
thoroughly investigate a case before proceeding to trial.” Cossio, 64 M.J. at
258 (citations omitted). In contrast, delay caused by the defense weighs
against the appellant. Cooley, 756 M.J. at 260 (citing Vermont v. Brillon, 556
U.S. 81, 90 (2009)). In appellant’s case, the reasons for delay are consistent
with the timeline adopted by the military judge and not objected to by the
parties at trial.!!

11 See AE LIV at 7-9.
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The investigation of the appellant’s case did not end when he was placed
into pretrial confinement. In this case, due to the circumstances and timing of
the appellant's apprehension, the government had large amounts of infor-
mation to gather and process in order to determine what charges the evi-
dence supported. Gathering the evidence, in turn, involved multiple foreign
contacts, It required the translation and transcription of several conversa-
tions conducted in Mandarin Chinese. It involved coordination with and be-
tween multiple federal law enforcement and intelligence agencies. And it was
necessary to consult with numerous federal authorities to precisely determine
what information disclosed by the appellant was classified, at what level it
was classified, and whether any privilege would be exercised over the infor-
mation. The interviews with the appellant on 11 and 12 September 2015 gen-
erated 13 hours of potentially classified content. The potentially classified
content was sent to 12 separate Original Classification Authorities (OCAs)
for review to determine whether the information was actually classified; if
classified, its classification level; and, to provide the information’s stakehold-
ers an opportunity to exercise any privilege over the classified information.
Coordinating with these 12 OCAs continued from October 2015 until 6 Janu-
ary 2016.

During this same timeframe, law enforcement was translating and identi-
fying potential classified information contained within the 10 hours of record-
ed conversations between the appellant and the undercover agent—the most
recent of which had occurred just days prior to the appellant’s arrest. Poten-
tially classified portions of the conversations were then sent to two OCAs for
a classification review and an opportunity to exert a claim of privilege over
any information determined to be classified. The prosecutors for the appel-
lant’s case did not receive the transcripts of the conversations or the results
of the OCAS’ classification reviews and privilege decisions until 5 November
2015. Charges were preferred one week later—12 November 2015.12

Meanwhile, on 3 November 2015 the appellant hired his first civilian de-
fense counsel (CDC). The following day, the government provided the appel-

12 The CA approved as R.C.M. 707 excludable delay the period of 12 September
2015 through 4 November 2015 in order to “identify the appropriate agencies for
classification reviews, to determine the security classification of evidence, and to al-
low stakeholders time to assert any privilege after completion of the classification
reviews.” AE LIV at 4. The military judge found that the CA did not abuse his discre-
tion in approving the 12 September 2015 through 4 November 2015 R.C.M. 707 ex-
cludable delay. Id. at 15.
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lant’s CDC with the information necessary for her to request the interim se-
curity clearances required before she could review the classified evidence in
the case. However, the CDC did not submit the documentation required to
process her security clearance request until 24 November. On 1 December
2015, the government notified the defense of its intent to conduct an Article
32, UCMJ, preliminary hearing within the next few weeks. The following
day, the appellant's CDC notified the government that the appellant would
not waive her presence at the Article 32, UCMJ, proceeding and informed the
government that the appellant was asserting his rights to a speedy trial un-
der R.C.M. 707. One week later, the CDC's requested security clearance was
denied.

The appellant then hired his second CDC on 11 December 2015. The gov-
ernment again promptly provided the second CDC the information necessary
to apply for an interim clearance, which was granted on 5 January 2016.1% In
the meantime, the appellant and his detailed defense counsel were granted
access to review, subject to a protective order, the classified evidence against
him on 15 December 2015. The second CDC received his final clearances and
was authorized access to the classified evidence on 2 March 2016.

On 7 March 2016, the appellant requested that the Article 32, UCMJ,
proceedings which had been ordered by the CA to take place not later than 23
March 2016 be delayed until at least 30 March 2016. At the further request of
the defense, the proceedings were ultimately delayed until 8 April 2016."
The Article 32, UCMJ, preliminary hearing officer issued his report on 26
April 2016 and the appellant’s charges were referred to general court-martial
on 10 May 2016. The appellant then requested and the military judge ap-
proved a delay of his arraignment from 13 May until 17 May 2016. The appel-
lant was arraigned on 17 May 2016.

Upon consideration of the reasons for delay, we find no evidence in the
record that the government acted in bad faith or with malice in the pro-
ceasing of the appellant’s case. We find the reasons for the delay here are rea-

13 The CA approved as second period of R.C.M. 707 from 5 November 2015
through 5 January 2015 in order to allow the processing of and action on the CDC’s
request for interim security clearances. AE LIV at 6. At trial the appellant acknowl-
edged and did not challenge that this period of delay was appropriately excluded un-
der R.C.M. 707. Id. at 6-7.

14 In conjunction with approving the request to delay the Article 32, UCMJ, pro-
ceedings until 8 April 2016, the CA also granted R.C.M. 707 excludable delay from 23
March 2016 through 8 April 2016. Id. at 9.

10
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sonable, especially considering that the vast majority of the pre-arraignment
delay in the appellant’s case was either at his request, or to obtain the securi-
ty clearances and authorization necessary to allow his CDC access to the
classified evidence in order to defend him. This factor weighs against the ap-
pellant.

c. Appellant’s assertion of speedy trial right

Under the third Barker factor, “[tlhe defendant’s assertion of his speedy
trial right . . . is entitled to strong evidentiary weight in determining whether
the defendant is deprived of the right.” United States v. Wilson, 72 M.J. 347,
353 (C.A.A.F. 2013) (quoting United States v. Johnson, 17 M.J. 255, 259
(C.M.A. 1984)).

The appellant made a single speedy trial request. This request was made
by his first CDC on 9 November 2015. Despite the request being couched in
the terms of R.C.M. 707, we, like the military judge below, have considered
this request to operate not only as an assertion of the appellant’s right to a
speedy trial under R.C.M. 707, but also Article 10, UCMJ.

The weight of the appellant’s speedy trial request, however, is undercut
by his subsequent requests for delay. For example, following his CDC’s au-
thorization to review the classified evidence, the appellant requested a 30-day
delay of the Article 32, UCMJ, proceeding, and a delay of the arraignment.
Nevertheless, because the appellant did make a request for speedy trial, this
factor weighs in favor of the appellant—albeit ever so slightly when consid-
ered in light of the appellant’s own repeated requests for delay. 16

15 Soe AE LIV at 17-18.

16 Even though we have determined that the appellant waived any post-
arraignment claim of an Article 10, UCMJ, violation, locking beyond the arraign-
ment, the record establishes that the appellant was not actively seeking a speedy tri-
al. In August 2016, the defense requested a continuance to pursue letters rogatory to
the Republic of Taiwan. After conducting an inquiry with the appellant to ensure
that he understood the implications of and agreed with the requested delay—at the
time estimated to be at least four and a half months—the military judge granted the
requested continuance. He did so despite the government’s assertion that it was
ready to go to trial. Some six months later in February 2017, the appellant requested
another two-month continuance of trial. Despite the government again asserting that
it was ready to go to trial, after conducting an inquiry with the appellant to ensure
that he understood the implications of and agreed with the requested delay, the mili-
tary judge granted the continuance.

11
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d. Prejudice

The final Barker factor is prejudice to the appellant due to the delay. Pre-
trial confinement by itself does not constitute per se prejudice. Cooley, 75 M.J.
at 262 (internal citations omitted). Instead, prejudice is assessed in light of
the interests of the appellant which the speedy trial right was designed to
protect. Barker, 407 U.S. at 532. Jurisprudence has recognized three such in-
terests relevant to prejudice analysis: (1) prevention of oppressive pretrial
incarceration; (2) minimization of anxiety and concern of the accused await-
ing trial; and (3) limitation of the possibility that the defense will be im-
paired. Mizgala 61 M.J. at 129 (citing Barker, 407 U.S. at 532). “Of these, the
most serious is the last, because the inability of a defendant adequately to
prepare his case skews the fairness of the entire system.” Id.

The appellant argues that he was prejudiced by being subjected to op-
pressive pretrial incarceration, not being able to fully or as actively partici-
pate in his defense, and by losing the ability to secure the testimony of sever-
al foreign national withesses who could have exonerated him or provided mit-
igating evidence during his sentencing proceeding. We conclude otherwise.

On the whole of the record, we find for the following reasons that the ap-
pellant was not materially prejudiced by the delay.

First, even though we acknowledge that the military judge awarded an
additional 16 days of confinement credit for Article 13, UCMJ, violations,!?
when considering the totality of the conditions of the appellant’s pretrial con-
finement we find them to be neither harsh nor oppressive.

Second, we are unconvinced that the delay impacted the appellant’s abil-
ity to secure the testimony of the foreign national witnesses. The appellant
voluntarily pleaded guilty to the offenses of which he was convicted. Prior to
conducting the guilty plea inquiry, the military judge explained to the appel-
lant that by pleading guilty he was giving up his right to a trial of the facts
by court-martial—that is, his right to have the court-martial decide whether
or not he was guilty of the offenses based upon the evidence presented by the
government and, if he chose to do so, any evidence he may present, The ap-
pellant agreed to give up this right. During the sentencing proceeding, the
appellant affirmed to the military judge that his ability to provide the court
with any information that he desired to present on the issue of determining
an appropriate sentence in his case had not been limited. Additionally, the

17 See AE CXXXIII.

12
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record establishes the delay associated with securing the testimony of the
foreign national witnesses occurred after the appellant was arraigned and
that the delay was incurred at the appellant’s request. Our review of the rec-
ord provides no indication that the appellant’s preparation for trial, defense
evidence, sentencing strategy, or ability to present sentencing witnesses were
compromised by the delay.

Finally, as the vast majority of the pre-arraignment delay was attributa-
ble to providing his counsel of choice access to the classified evidence against
him, and providing his counsel with the time they desired to adequately re-
view the evidence and prepare his defense, the delay tended to benefit—
rather than prejudice—the appellant. Balancing the factors identified in as-
sessing prejudice, we find that if there was any prejudice to the appellant as
a result of the pre-arraignment delay, it was minimal. This factor also weighs
against the appellant.

Accordingly, we conclude that the appellant was not denied his right to a
speedy trial. The government was reasonably diligent in bringing the appel-
lant to trial in accordance with the requirements of Article 10, UCM.J.

B. Admission of Evidence in Aggravation was Proper

During the pre-sentencing proceeding, the government called witnesses
who testified about the harm to national defense posed by the appellant’s un-
authorized disclosures of classified information.!® At trial, the appellant ob-
jected to the testimony as improper evidence in aggravation, arguing the evi-
dence was speculative. Finding that the testimony was proper evidence in
aggravation, the military judge admitted the testimony. The appellant avers
that the military judge abused his discretion by admitting this testimony as
aggravation of his crimes. We disagree.

We review a military judge’s decision to admit sentencing evidence under
the abuse of discretion standard. United States v. Stephens, 67 M.J. 233, 235
(C.A.A.F. 2009). At sentencing, “trial counsel may present evidence as to any
aggravating circumstances directly relating to or resulting from the offenses
of which the accused has been found guilty.” R.C.M. 1001(b)(4) (emphasis
added). R.C.M. 1001(b){4), however, poses a higher burden than mere rele-
vance, United States v. Hardison, 64 M.J. 279, 281 (C.A.A.F. 2007).

18 Due to the classified nature of the testimony, the specific facts testified to by
the witnesses will not be discussed.
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Even if the evidence is directly related to or resulting from the offenses of
which the appellant is convicted, the evidence will only be admitted if it also
meets the requirements of MILITARY RULE OF EVIDENCE (MIL. R. EVID.) 403,
MANUAL FOR COURTS-MARTIAL, UNITED STATES (2016 ed.). United States v.
Manns, 54 M.J. 164, 166 (C.A.A.F. 2000). “A military judge enjoys ‘wide dis-
cretion’ in applying MIL. R. EVID. 403.” Id. (citing United States v. Rust, 41
M.J. 472, 478 (C.A.A.F. 1995)). If the military judge conducts a proper MIL. R.
EVID. 403 balancing test, the “ruling will not be overturned unless there is a
‘clear abuse of discretion.” Id. (citing United States v. Ruppel, 49 M.J. 247,
250 (C.A.A.F. 1998)). When a military judge places his or her analysis on the
record, we accord them the largest measure of deference. We afford judges
less deference if they fail to articulate their analysis, and no deference if they
fail to conduct a balancing at all. Id.

Because the military judge did not conduct an MIL. R. EVID. 403 balanc-
ing, we give his decision no deference and have examined the record our-
selves. The aggravating “harm to the national defense” evidence presented
and objected to by the appellant was the same harm admitted to by the appel-
lant during his providence inquiry. In short, the harm described was not just
directly related to or resulting from an offense for which the appellant was
convicted; rather the evidence of the harm posed by the disclosures is what
made the appellant’s disclosures of the information criminally punishable.
The objected-to evidence directly supported an element of the appellant’s 18
U.8.C. § 793(d) offenses—that the appellant had reason to believe that the
information could be used to the injury of the United States or the advantage
of a foreign nation.’® Further, the evidence showed why the appellant had
reason to believe that the information he admitted to disclosing could be used
to injure the United States.?® Having reviewed the objected-to testimony, we
find that the military judge appropriately determined that the testimony was
proper evidence in aggravation in that it was directly related to his 18 U.S.C.
§ 793(d) convictions and provided the military judge with an informed expla-
nation of how the disclosures injured the national defense interests of the
United States.

The probative value of the objected-to testimony described above was not
substantially outweighed by any prejudicial effect. Here, the potential preju-
dice to the appellant was that the military judge would sentence him based

19 Spe Record at 1147-47 and 1147-53.
20 See Id. at 1147-44 and 1147-55 to 56.
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on a harm that had not actually been proven to have occurred—that the dis-
closed information had actually been received by a potential adversary of the
United States. We are confident that the military judge appropriately limited
his consideration of this evidence. “Military judges are presumed to know the
law and to follow it absent clear evidence to the contrary.” United States v.
Rodriguez, 60 M.J. 87, 90 (C.A.A.F. 2004) (citation omitted). There is no evi-
dence in the record to indicate that the military judge rendered a sentence
that was based upon any unproven harm to the national defense interests of
the United States. To the contrary, when overruling the appellant’s objection
to the harm evidence, the military judge repeatedly announced that, absent
evidence to the contrary, although the information disclosed could be used to
the injury of the United States or the advantage of a foreign nation, he would
not presume that the injury or advantage had actually occurred. Accordingly,
we find the military judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the tes-
timony.2!

C. Sentence Appropriateness

The appellant next avers that his adjudged sentence was inappropriately
severe given his strong case in extenuation and mitigation, and when com-
pared to other cases involving the mishandling of classified information. We
disagree.

We review de novo the appropriateness of sentences. United Stales v.
Lane, 64 M.J. 1, 2 (C.A.A.F. 2006). We will only affirm a sentence, or such
part of a sentence, that we determine should be approved on the basis of the
entire record. Art. 66, UCMJ. Our assessment of the appropriateness of a
sentence requires an “individualized consideration of the particular accused
on the basis of the nature and seriousness of the offense and the character of
the offender.” United States v. Snelling, 14 M.J. 267, 268 (C.M.A. 1982) (cita-
tion and internal quotation marks omitted). A sentence is appropriate when
justice is done and “the accused gets the punishment he deserves.” United
States v. Key, 71 M.J. 566, 573 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 2012) (citing United

21 Bven if we were to assume that the military judge erred in admitting the tes-
timony, adhering to the principles set forth by our superior court in United States v.
Sales, 22 M.J. 305 (C.A.A.F. 1986) and United States v. Winckelmann, 73 M.J. 11
(C.A.A.F. 2013), we are confident that we could reassess the appellant’s sentence to
obviate the impact of the error. United States v. Moffeit, 63 M.J. 40, 41 (C.A.AF.
2006). Based upon our review of the record, absent the witness’s testimony we would
reassess the appellant’s sentence to be that which he received at trial—confinement
for 9 years, forfeiture of all pay and allowance, and a dismissal.
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States v. Healy, 26 M.J. 394, 395 (C.M.A. 1988)). Despite our significant dis-
cretion in reviewing the appropriateness and severity of an adjudged sen-
tence, we cannot engage in acts of clemency. United States v. Nerad, 69 M.J.
138, 146 (C.A.A.F. 2010).

1. Case in extenuation and mitigation

The appellant argues that the evidence he presented during the pre-
sentencing proceeding was not appropriately considered by the military
judge. He asserts that the evidence he presented demonstrates that he did
not intend to harm the United States when he provided national defense in-
formation to those he knew or believed to be foreign agents, nor did he do it
for personal enrichment. He also highlights his strong professional record
consisting of competitive assignments over an 18-year career, the actions he
performed in the furtherance of protecting of our national defense interests,
his openness with investigators, and his ultimate decision to plead guilty.

Like the military judge below, we too have considered the appellant’s ex-
tensive case in extenuation and mitigation. However, weighing against the
appellant’s otherwise commendable service and conduct is the seriousness of
his misconduct which included providing classified information to foreign
agents and those he believed to be foreign agents, falsifying his leave re-
quests, and mishandling classified documents.

The maximum sentence the appellant faced as a result of his convictions
was confinement for 36 years, forfeiture of all pay and allowance, and dismis-
sal from the Navy. Having given individualized consideration to the appel-
lant, the nature and seriousness of his offenses, his character, record of ser-
vice, and all other matters contained in the record of trial, we find that the
adjudged and approved sentence in this case of nine years’ confinement is
appropriate. We are convinced that justice was done and the appellant re-
ceived the punishment he deserved. Healy, 26 M.J. at 395.

2. Closely related and disparate?

The appellant also complains that when compared to similar cases, his
sentence was inappropriately severe. We disagree. Each “court-martial is free
to impose any (legal] sentence it considers fair and just.” United Stales v.
Turner, 34 C.M.R. 215, 217 (C.M.A. 1964). Therefore, “[t]he military system
must be prepared to accept some disparity . . . provided each military accused
is sentenced as an individual.” United States v. Durant, 556 M.J. 258, 261
(C.A.AF. 2001) (discussing disparity in sentencing of codefendants) (citations
omitted). In execution of this highly discretionary function, Article 66, UCMJ,
does not require us to consider sentences in other cases, except when those
cases are “closely related.” United States v. Ballard, 20 M.J. 282, 283 (C.M.A.
1985); United States v. Noble, 50 M.J. 293, 294 (C.A.AF. 1999); United States
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v. Wacha, 55 M.J. 266, 267 (C.A.A.F. 2001). As a general rule “sentence ap-
propriateness should be determined without reference to or comparison with
the sentences received by other offenders.” Ballard, 20 M.J. at 283 (citations
omitted). Notably, one narrow exception to this general principle of non-
comparison exists. We are “required ... ‘to engage in sentence comparison
with specific cases . . . in those rare instances in which sentence appropriate-
ness can be fairly determined only by reference to disparate sentences ad-
judged in closely related cases.” Wacha, 55 M.J. at 267 (citations omitted)
(emphasis in original).

When requesting relief by way of this exception, an appellant’s burden is
twofold: the appellant must demonstrate “that any cited cases are ‘closely re-
lated’ to his or her case and that the sentences are ‘highly disparate.” United
States v. Lacy, 50 M.J. 286, 288 (C.A.A.F. 1999). If the appellant succeeds on
both prongs, then the burden shifts to the government to “show that there is
a rational basis for the disparity.” Id.

For cases to be considered closely related, “the cases must involve offenses
that are similar in both nature and seriousness or which arise from a com-
mon scheme or design.” United States v. Kelly, 40 M.dJ. 558, 570 (N.M.C.M.R.
1994). This threshold requirement can be satisfied by evidence of “co[-]actors
involved in a common crime, servicemembers involved in a common or paral-
lel scheme, or some other direct nexus between the servicemembers whose
sentences are sought to be compared.” Lacy, 50 M.J. at 288.

In this case, the appellant’s request for sentence comparison and relief is
based on his assertion that his sentence violates the principle of general sen-
tence uniformity. In support of his argument, he cites to numerous cases of
servicemembers who were convicted of mishandling or disclosing classified
information and received lesser sentences. Having reviewed the cases cited
by the appellant, we do not find them closely related. The cases did not in-
volve co-actors of the appellant. Nor do the cases cited involve offenses that
are similar in both nature and seriousness to the appellant’s or involve a
common or parallel scheme.

Having failed to meet his initial burden of showing that his case is closely
related to any of the cases he cites, we decline his invitation to engage in sen-
tence comparison.

D. CMO Error

QOur review of the record has revealed that the results of the appellant’s
proceedings are not accurately reflected in the CMO. An appellant is entitled
to an official record accurately reflecting the results of his proceedings. Unii-
ed States v. Crumpley, 49 M.J. 538, 539 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 1989). We test
error in CMOs under a harmless-error standard. Id.
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At a minimum, a CMO must contain the following information: (1) the
type of court-martial and the convening command; (2) a summary of all
charges and specifications on which the appellant was arraigned; (3) the ap-
pellant’s pleas; (4) the findings or disposition of all charges and specifications
on which the appellant was arraigned, (5) if adjudged, the sentence; and (6) a
summary of the action taken by the CA in the case. R.C.M. 1114(c}(1) (em-
phasis added).

Although not raised by the parties, we note that the court-martial order
incorrectly fails to reflect that the appellant was arraigned on Charge I, Spec-
ification 2, and Charge III, Specification 1 as listed on the charge sheet, and
entered pleas of not guilty to these offenses.?? Following his entry of pleas,
Charge I, Specification 2 was later dismissed with prejudice by order of the
court?? and Charge III, Specification 1 was withdrawn and dismissed without
prejudice by the convening authority.?! The failure to reflect these offenses,
the appellant’s plea of not guilty to them, and their ultimate disposition in
the CMO was error; however, the error was harmless as it did not materially
prejudice the appellant’s substantial rights. To ensure the appellant has an
official record which accurately reflects his proceedings, in our decretal para-
graph we will order that the supplemental CMO reflect the information omit-
ted.

IT1I. CONCLUSION

After careful consideration of the record and briefs of appellate counsel,
we have determined that the approved findings and sentence are correct in
law and fact and that no error materially prejudicial to appellant’s substan-
tial rights occurred. Art. 59 and 66, UCMJ. Accordingly, the findings and sen-

22 Following the disposition of these offenses, the military judge renumbered the
remaining specifications under the respective charges. Although it is not error to do
so, this practice often results in erroneous CMOs. Based upon our review of cases
containing CMO errors, we note that it is often the renumbering of the remaining
charges and specifications which ultimately leads to offenses, pleas entered to those
offense, and the disposition of those offense being erroneously omitted from the CMO.
To avoid these oft repeated CMO errors, we suggest that the practice which best en-
sures record clarity and accuracy is to refrain from renumbering the charges or speci-
fications following the entry of pleas.

23 See Record at 367; AE LVIL
24 See Record at 423.
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tence as approved by the convening authority are AFFIRMED. The supple-
mental CMO shall reflect all charges and specifications to which the appel-
lant entered pleas and the final disposition of those offenses.

Senior Judge HUTCHISON and Judge CRISFIELD concur.

T

FOR THE COURT:

Clerk of Court
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27 Sep 17
DNA processing required in accordance with 10 U.S.C. § 1565

General Court-Martial Order No. 1-17

Before a General Court-Martial convened at Region Legal Service Office Mid-Atlantic, on
board Naval Station Norfolk, pursuant to Commander, U.S. Fleet Forces Command, General
Court-Martial Convening Order 1A-15 of 24 August 2015, Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L.
Lin, U.S. Navy, was arraigned and tried on the following offenses. and the following findings or
other dispositions were reached:

| CHARGE | PLEAS | FINDINGS
CHARGE I: VUCMJI Article 92 SUILTY GUILTY
Specification 1 (Violation of a Lawful General GUILTY. GUILTY.
Order): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C.L. | | excepting the words | excepting the words
Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander Patrol and | "paragraph 9-3. “paragraph 9-3. dated |
Reconnaissance Group. on active duty, did, at or near | dated June 2006. as | June 20006. as
San Francisco International Airport. San Francisco. incorporated into incorporated into
CA, on or about 12 February 20135, fail to obey a SECNAVINST | SECNAVINST
lawful general order. to wit: SECNAV M-5510.36. 5510.36A. dated 6| 5510.36A. dated 6
paragraph 9-3, dated June 2006, as incorporated into October 2006. by | October 2006. by
SECNAVINST 5510.36A. dated 6 October 2006. by wrongfully | wrongfully _
wrongfully transporting material classified as transporting transporting material
SECRET. ;. material classificd | classified as

-' { as SECRET" SECRET"
| substituting the substituting the words

words "paragraph "paragraph 7-10, '
7-10. dated June dated June 2006. as

2006. as incorporated into
incorporated into SECNAVINST
SECNAVINST | 5510.36A. dated 6

5510.36A.dated 6 | October 2006, by
October 2006. by wrongfully failing to
wrongfully failing | ensure material

to ensure material classificd as SECRET

‘ classified as was kept under
SECRET was kept | constant surveillance
‘ under constant by an authorized

surveillance by an | person when removed
‘authorized person from secure storage™
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Specification 2 (Violation of a Lawful General
Order): In that Licutenant Commander Edward C.L.
Lin. U.S. Navy. Commander Patrol and
Reconnaissance Group, on active duty. did. at or near
Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about 11 September 2015. fail
10 obey a lawful general order, to wit: SECNAV M-
5510.36. paragraph 10-3. dated June 2006, as
incorporated into SECNAVINST 5510.36A. dated 6
October 2006. by wrongfully failing to properly store
material classified as SECRET.

"CHARGE 11: VUCMJ ARTICLE 106a

| when removed from
secure storage™ to
the excepted words
NOT GUILTY, to

| the substituted
words GUILTY. to

| the specification as

| excepted and

| substituted

| GUILTY

!

| GUILTY
|
|

| NOT GUILTY

| 1o the excepled words

NOT GUILTY, to the
substituted words
GUILTY. to the
specification as
excepted and
substituted GUILTY

GUILTY

WITHDRAWN

AND DISMISSED

Specification 1 (Espionage): In that Licutenant
Commander Edward C. L. Lin. U.S. Navy.
Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on
active duty, did, at or near Washington. D.C.. on
divers occasions, from about September 2012 to
about December 2013. with intent or reason o
believe it would be used to the advantage of a foreign
nation, communicate SECRET information relating to
the national defense to representatives of a foreign
government.

Specification 2 (Espionage): In that Lieutenant
Commander Edward C. L. Lin. U.S. Navy.
Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on
active duty. did. at or near Washington. D.C.. on
divers occasions, from about April 2012 to about
May 2014, with intent or reason to believe it would
be used to the advantage of a foreign nation,
communicate SECRET information relating to the
national defense to a representative of a foreign

| covernment.

NOT GUILTY

| NOT GUILTY

WITHDRAWN
AND DISMISSED

WITHDRAWN
AND DISMISSED
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| Specification 3 (Attempted Espionage): In that

! Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S.

| Navy, Commander Patrol and Recolmaissance

i Group, on active duty, did. at or near Pearl Harbor,

| HI. on or about 1 September 20135, with intent or
reason to believe it would be used to the advantage of
a foreign nation, attempt to communicate SECRET
information relating to the national defense to a

representative of a foreign government.

Specification 4 (Attempted Espionage): In that
Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin. U.S.
Navy, Commander Patro]l and Reconnaissance Group,
on active duty, did. at or near Pearl Harbor, HI. on or
about 4 September 2015. with intent or reason to
believe it would be used to the advantage of a forcign
nation. attempt to communicate SECRET information
relating to the national defense to a representative of
a forcign government.

Specification 5 (Attempled Espionage): In that
Licutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin. U.S.
Navy., Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group,
on active duty. did. at or near Pearl Harbor, HI. on or
about 9 September 2015, with intent or reason to
believe it would be used to the advantage of a foreign
nation. attempt to communicate SECRET information
relating to the national defense to a representative of

! a foreign government.

NOT GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

| WITHDRAWN
| AND DISMISSED

WITHDRAWN
AND DISMISSED

WITHDRAWN
AND DISMISSED

"CHARGE 111: VUCMJ ARTICLE 107

| Specification | (False Official Statement): In that

i Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S.

| Navy, Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group,
on active duty. did, at or near Washington, D.C., on
or about 31 October 2013, with intent to deceive.
electronically sign an official record, to wit: an e-
Leave Request dated 31 October 2013. which record
was false in that it listed the leave address as 166
Comay Terrace, rather than the

actual foreign destination, and was then known by the
said Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin to be
so false.

|

GUILTY

' GUILTY

TGUILTY

"GUILTY

L
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Specification 2 (False Official Statement): In that
Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S.
Navy. Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group.
on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI. on or
about 29 April 2015, with intent to deceive, sign an
official record, to wit: an e-Leave Request dated |
July 2015. which record was false in that it listed the
leave address as (b)) |
rather than the actual foreign destination, and was
then known by the said Licutenant Commander
Edward C. L. Lin to be so false.

CHARGE IV: VUCMJ ARTICLE 134

GUILTY

GUILTY

GUILTY

GUILTY

' Specification | (Communicating Defense

| Information): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward
| C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander Patrol and
Reconnaissance Group, on active duty. did. at or near
Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about 21 August 20135, having
lawful access to information relating to the national
defense of the United States. which information the

| said Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S.
Navy. had reason to believe could be used to the

| injury of the United States or to the advantage of a

| foreign nation. knowingly and willfully communicate
information relative to the national defense to a
person not entitled to receive said information in
violation of Title 18. United States Code, Section
793(d), an offense not capital.

Specification 2 (Communicating Defense

| Information): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward
| C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander Patrol and
Reconnaissance Group. on active duty, did, at or near
Pearl Harbor. HI, on or about 25 August 2015. having
lawful access to information relating to the national
defense of the United States, which information the
said Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S.
Navy, had reason to believe could be used to the
injury of the United States or to the advantage of a
foreign nation, knowingly and willfully communicate
information relative to the national defense to a
person not entitled to receive said information in

4

| GUILTY.

excepting the words
"on or about 21
August 2015,"
substituting the
words "from on or
about August 2015
to on or about
September 2015."
to the excepted
words NOT
GUILTY. to the
substituted words
GUILTY, to the
specification as
excepted and
substituted
GUILTY.

| GUILTY. excepting

the words "Pearl
Harbor. HI. on or
about | September
2015." substituting
the words
"Washington, DC.
from about April

| 2012 to May 2014"

to the excepted
words NOT
GUILTY. to the
substituted words

| GUILTY. to the

GUILTY. excepting
the words "on or
about 21 August
2015." substituting
the words "from on or
about August 2015 to
on or about
September 2015." o
the excepted words
NOT GUILTY. to the
substituted words
GUILTY., to the

| specification as

excepted and
substituted GUILTY.

GUILTY. excepting
the words "Pcarl
Harbor. HI. on or
about | September
2013." substituting
the words
"Washington. DC.
from about April
2012 1o May 2014" to
the excepted words
NOT GUILTY. to the
substituted words

{ GUILTY. to the
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violation of Title 18, United States dee, Section
793(d), an offense not capital.

Specification 3 (Communicating Defense
Information): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward
C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander Patrol and
Reconnaissance Group. on active duty, did, at or near
Pearl Harbor, HI. on or about 1 September 2015,
having lawful access to information relating to the
national defense of the United States, which
information the said Lieutenant Commander Edward
C. L. Lin. U.S. Navy. had reason to believe could be
used to the injury of the United States or to the
advantage of a foreign nation. knowingly and
willfully communicate information relative to the
national defense to a person not entitled {o receive
said information in violation of Title 18. United
States Code, Section 793(d), an offense not capital.

Specification 4 (Communicating Defense
Information): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward
C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy. Commander Patrol and
Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or ncar
Pear] Harbor. HI. on or about 4 September 2013,
having lawful access to information relating to the
national defense of the United States. which
information the said Lieutenant Commander Edward
C. L. Lin. U.S. Navy, had reason to believe could be
used to the injury of the United States or to the
advantage of a foreign nation. knowingly and

| willfully communicate information relative to the
national defense to a person not entitled to receive
said information in violation of Title 18. United
States Code. Section 793(d), an offense not capital.

| Specification 5 (Communicating Defense
Information): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward
| C. L. Lin. U.S. Navy. Commander Patrol and

Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about 9 September 20135.
having lawful access to information relating to the
national defense of the United States. which
information the said Lieutenant Commander Edward
i C. L. Lin. U.S. Navy, had reason to believe could be

Reconnaissance Group. on active duty, did, at or near |

specification as
excepted and

{ substituted

GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

 specification as
excepted and
substituted GUILTY

WITHDRAWN
AND DISMISSED

WITHDRAWN
AND DISMISSED

WITHDRAWN
AND DISMISSED

W
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(

used to the injury of the United States or to the
advantage of a foreign nation. knowingly and
willfully communicate information relative to the
national defense to a person not entitled to receive
said information in violation of Title 18. United
States Code, Section 793(d), an offense not capital.

ADDITIONAL CHARGE: VUCMJ ARTICLE 92 | GUILTY GUILTY

Specification (Violation of a Lawful General Order): GUILTY GUILTY
In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C.L. Lin. U.S. -,

Navy, Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group.
on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI, from '.
about February 2014 to about September 2015, fail to ;
obey a lawful general order. to wit: SECNAV M-
5510.30, paragraph 3-8. dated June 2006. as
incorporated into SECNAVINST 5510.30B. dated 6
October 2006. by wronglully failing to report foreign
connections to his security manager.

SENTENCE

On 2 June 2017, the accused was sentenced to a punitive separation from the Naval Service
with a Dismissal, to be confined for nine (9) years. and to forfeit all pay and allowances.

APPROVAL

[n accordance with the pre-trial agreement in the General Court-Martial of United States v.
Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy. the sentence as adjudged is approved.

ACTION
Pursuant to the pre-trial agreement, execution of confinement in excess of six (6) years is

suspended for the period of confinement adjudged plus 24 months thereafter, at which time.
unless sooner vacated. the suspended portion will be remitted without further action.

EXECUTION

In accordance with the Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ), the Manual for Courts-
Martial (MCM), applicable regulations. and this action. the sentence is ordered executed. except,
pursuant to Article 71, UCMJ. the punitive separation may not be executed until there is final
judgment as to the legality of the proceedings.

6
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CONFINEMENT CREDIT

In accordance with the case of U.S. v. Allen. 17 M.J. 126 (CMA 1984). the accused is
credited with 630 days of pre-trial confinement. Additionally, the accused is credited with 16
days ol judicially ordered credit.

PLACE OF CONFINEMENT

The Naval Consolidated Brig Chesapcake, Chesapeake, Virginia, was designated as the
initial place of confinement.

DEFERMENT

Other than the provisions of the pre-trial agreement. there have been no requests to defer any
part of the sentence, cither as adjudged or as mandated under the UCMI.

POST-TRIAL DELAY

This action was taken within 120 days of the completion of trial.

MATTERS CONSIDERED

Prior to taking action in the case, I considered the Corrected Report of Results of Trial dated
15 August 2017, the Pre-Trial Agreement of 18 April 2017, the recommendation of my Fleet
Judge Advocate of 5 September 2017, Defense counsels” letter and email of 21 September 2017.
with all the enclosures submitted by Defense Counsel and the Accused in accordance with Rule
for Courts-Martial 1105 and 1106. and the Addendum Fleet Judge Advocate Recommendation of
22 Scptember 2017.

DISPOSITION

Pursuant to Article 65(a). Uniform Code of Military Justice. the record of trial is forwarded
to the Navy-Marine Corps Appellate Review Activity (Code 40). Office of the Judge Advocate
General, Washington Navy Yard, Washington. D.C. 20374. for appellate review.

The results of the foregoing case are hereby promulgated in accordance with Rule for Courts-
Martial 1114, Manual for Courts-Martial.

Collection of a DNA sample from the agcused is r

‘ommahder. U.S. Fleet Forces Command
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DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE REPORT OF RESULT OF TRIAL

1. DATE OF TRIAL (Y YV YMMDD)

8, ORGANIZATION: (Fulf addrass)
COMMANDER PATROL AND RECONNAISSANCE GROUP

20170642
TO: (Convening Authorily)
COMMANDER, US FLEET FORCES COMMAND
1. NOTIFICATION UNDER R.C.M. 1101 IS HEREBY GIVEN IN THE CASE OF UNITED STATES VERSUS: ”
8. NAME (Las! Fast. Middie Initial b. BRANCH OF SERVICE c. RANKIGRADE | d.DoD JD/SSN (Lastd) |
LIN, Edward C. L. USN LCDR/O-4 (b))

“Za. TYPE OF COURT-MARTIAL [X one)

20170602

20170602

7827 INGERSOL ST. STE 250 : GENERAL SPECIAL SUMMARY
NORFOLK, VA 23551.2392
" JUDGE ALONE JUDGE ALONE
“b. CONVENED BY: COURT MARTIAL ORDER NUMBER{S) c. ISSUING COMMAND d. DATE (YYYYMMDD)
1A-15 COMMANDER, US FLEET FORCES 20150824
COMMAND
| 3. SUMMARY OF OFFENSES, PLEAS AND FINDINGS
& CHARGE/ e § <.DBIRS d. o L
SPECIFICATION NO(S) ARTICLE(S) CODE BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF OFFENSE PLEA FINDING
CHARGE 92 032-A0 VIOLATION OF A LAWFUL GENERAL ORDER G G
SPEC 1 G G
SPEC 2 G G
CHARGE 0 i06a 106-A- ESPIONAGE AND ATTEMPTED ESPIONAGE NG WD
SPEC 1 NG WD
SPEC 2 NG WD
SPEC3 NG wm
SPEC 4 NG WD
SPECS - NG W
— CHARGE NI 107 107-A- FALSE OFFICIAL STATEMENT G G
SPEC 1 G G
SPEC 2 G G
CHARGE IV 134 134-2 COMMUNICATING DEFENSE INFORMATION G G
SPEC 1 G G
SPEC 2 ‘G G
SPEC 3 NG WD
SPEC 4 NG WD
SPEC S NG Wi
" ADDITIONAL CHARGE 92 092.A0 VIOLATION OF A LA ERAL ORDER G G
SPEC G G
*GUILTY BY EXCEPTIONS AND SUBSTITUTIONS AS
— NOTED IN THE RECORD OF TRIAL.
4.0, DATE ADJUDGED b. DATE OF ANY FORFEITURES OR REDUCTIONS

5. SENTENCE

630 N/A

b. OAYS OF PRE-TRIAL CREDIT t. DAYS OF OTHER JUDGE ORDERED CREDIT

DISMISSAL; 89 YEARS CONFINEMENT; FORFEITURE ALL PAY AND ALLOWANCES.

6.0 CONTENTS OF PRE-TRIAL AGREEMENT CONCERNING SENTENCE T0 CONFINEMENT i any)

May ba approved as adjudged. Howsvar, all confinament in excess of 6 ysars will be suspended for the period of confinement adjudged plus 24
months thereafier, at which time, unless sooner vacated, tha suspended portion will be ramittad without further action,

d. TOTAL PRESENTENCE CREDIT TOWARD POST-TRIAL CONFINEMENT

7. DNA PROCESSING: I1AW DoDI 5505.14 XI5

IS NOT REQUIRED,

8. SEX OFFi REGISTRATION: 1AW 42 U.5.C. § 18917

s

[ x | 15 NOT REQUIRED.

9. COMPANION ACCUSED/CO-ACCUSED (Name(s) and Social Securiy ﬁt{mbadsﬁf_fw)l
A

10. DISTRIBUTION {Copy provided fo namead A

genclas/Unii(s))
COMMANDER PATROL AND RECONNAISSANCE GROUP; PSD; DISBURSING OFFICE; RECORD OF TRIAL; TCAP/DCAP; NCIS

11, SIGNED BY (X one} N IES TRIAL COUNSEL | | SUMMARY COURT-MARTIAL OFFICER
a. NAME (Lasl, Firsi, Middle Inifial) b. RANK/IGRADE c. BRANCH OF SERVICE
TANG, Angsia J, CDR/D-5 USN

20170602

a. DATE SIGNED (YYYYMMOD)

NN FORM 27n7.4 MAR 2011

PARF1NFA4




ujfv‘
=z el

CHARGE SHEET

|. PERSONAL DATA
1. NAME OF ACCUSED [Last, Firs!, Mi) 2 88N 3. RANKWRATE 4 PAY GRADE
LIN, Edward C. L. (b) (6) | LCDR 04
5. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION 6. CURRENT SERVIGE
a. INITIAL DATE b. TERM
Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group 22 Dec 1999 Indefinite
7_PAY PER MONTH 8. NATURE OF RESTRAINT OF ACCUSED | 9. DATE(S) IMPOSED
a_BASIC b. SEA/FOREIGN DUTY c. TOTAL
Lo pe v i) [ 74057 e F%  Pre-Trial Confinement September 11, 2015 - Present
$7:449-30 $0.00 5744530 _
Il. CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS

10. CHARGE| VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 82

Specification 1 (Violation of a Lawful General Order): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S.

Navy, Cﬁm’m%@l %ad Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near San Francisco International
Airportzoh or hbo “ebruary 2015, fail to obey a lawful general order, to wit: SECNAV M-5510.36,

paragraph 9-3, dated June 2006, as incorporated into SECNAVINST 5510.36A, dated 6 October 2006, by
wrongfully transporting material classified as SECRET.

Specification 2 (Violation of a Lawful General Order): |n that Licutg

opmander Edwarg

o TIEDy &par, :

Frrormation classified as SECRET.

report foreign conga

T ) SEE 2 ADDITIONAL PAGES

ll. PREFERRAL

— | b GRADE ) ¢. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER

LCDR/O-4 United States Fleet Forces Command
e. DATE i
77 April 2016
. Before me, the un %rsng , authonzed by law to administer oaths in cases of this character, personally appeared the
above named accuser this ¥ day of April , 20_10 , and signed the foregoing charges and

specifications under oath that he/she is a person subject to the Uniform Code of Military Justice and that he/she eilher has personal
knowledge of or has investigated the matters sel forih therein and thal the same are true to the besl of his/her knowledge and beliel,

United States Fleet Forces Command
Typed Name of Officer Organizalion of Officer

CDR, JAGC, USN Deputy Force Judge Advocate
Official Capacity to Adminisier Oaths
{See R.C.M. 307(b}-must be commissioned officer)

SIN 0102-LF-000-4580



A

12. On 7 April r 16 , the accused was informed of the charc ainst him/her and of the name(s) of
the accuser(s) known to me. (See k ..M. 308(a)). (See R.C.M. 308 if nolificalion cannoi be .,ada )

| DI I ———

Typed Name Organization

CDR, JAG, USN

IV. RECEIPT BY SUMMARY COURT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY

13. The swomn charges were receivedat 1600  hours, 7 April 20 16 at
Deasignation of Command or

United States Fleet Forces Command
Officer Exercising Summary Court-Marhal Junisdiction (See RCM. 403)
Commander, United States Fleet Forces

FOR THE Command
_— - Fleet Judge Advocate

Typed Name of Officer Official Capacity of Officer Signing

CAPT, JAGC, USN

_ e V. REFERRAL; SERVICE OF CHARGES
“14a. DESIGNATION OF COMMAND OF CONVENING AUTHORITY ‘r. PLACE c. DATE

Fleet Forces Command

NSA, Norfolk, VA o Maey 2016
]

Referred for trial to the General  court-martial convenedby General Court-Martial

Convening Order 1A-15

24 August g 20 15 ,subjectlo the following instructions:?  None.
By of
Command or Order
P.S. DAVIDSON Commander
Typed Name of Officer Official Capacity of Officer Signing

IRAL, P»S. NAVY

15. On I i M ; 20 J_h , | (caused lo be) served a copy hereof on (each of) the above named accused.

Commander, U.8., Navy
Grade or Rank of Trial Counsel

nder signs personal:y meppffcabfe words are stricken.

OOTNOTES P,
2— SEERC M _601(e) concemning instructions. N none, so slale.

DD Form 458 Reverse
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Specification 2 (False Official Statement): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward;é. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander

]
T

Continuation of DD FORM 458 -CO U.S. v. LCDR EDWARD LIN, USN-_
CHARGE |, VIOLATION OF THE MJ, ARTICLE 92 (CONTINUED)

z
Specification #(Violation of a Lawful General Order): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy,
Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about 11 September
2015, fail to obey a lawful general order, to wit: SECNAV M-5510.36, paragraph 10-3, dated June 2006, as incorporated
into SECNAVINST 5510.36A, dated 6 October 2006, by wrongfully failing to properly store material classified as
SECRET.

CHARGE II, VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 106a

Specification | (Espionage): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander Patrol and
Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Washington, D.C., on divers occasions, from about September 2012
1o about December 2013, with intent or reason to believe it would be used to the advantage of a foreign nation,
communicate SECRET information relating to the national defense to representatives of a foreign government.

Specification 2 (Espionage): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander Patrol and
Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Washington, D.C., on divers occasions, from about April 2012 to
about May 204, with intent or reason to believe it would be used to the advantage of a foreign nation, communicate
SECRET information relating to the national defense to a representative of a foreign government.

Specification 3 (Attempted Espionage): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander Patrol
and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about 1 September 2015, with intent or
reason to believe it would be used to the advantage of a foreign nation, attempt to communicate SECRET information
relating to the national defense to a representative of a foreign government.

Specification 4 (Attempted Espionage): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander Pairol
and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about 4 September 20135, with intent or
reason to believe it would be used to the advantage of a foreign nation, attempt to communicate SECRET information
relating to the national defense to a representative of a foreign government.

Specification 5 (Attempted Espionage): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander Patrol
and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about ¢ September 2015, with intent or
reason to believe it would be used to the advantage of a foreign nation, attempt to communicate SECRET information
relating to the national defense to a representative of a foreign government.

wAY”
CHARGE 111, VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 107 WASHe o, V€.,

Specification 1 (False Officigl.St Wﬁtﬁfﬁl}h‘lam Commander Edwnryé. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commapder

l“ Wiﬂnuce Group, tiveduty, did, aljﬁﬁieur =8, on or ahout 9 AwrpasT 201 2, with

\:ﬁ ive, let{trqa g;ﬁ@,ﬁﬁ ial record, te-wit=Standard rorm 86.++1ICh record was false in that it failed to
I il .

a
¢ ‘oreign trave] from 3 Peeermbrer20TT (0 10 Decembes28+17and was then known by the said Lieutenant
TRy -

Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at for near =+ on or about 31 October 2013, with
intent to deceive, electronically sign an official record, to wit: an e-Leave Request dated 31 October 2013, which record
was false in that it listed the leave address as [[SiEIEGNGNGG rather than the actual foreign

ﬁgleslinmion, and was then known by the said Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin to be so false.
LS

2
Specification 7 (False Official Statement): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander
Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at'ﬂﬁr near Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about 29 April 2015, with
intent to deceive, efeetrenieatly sign an official record, to wit: an e-Leave Request dated 1 July 2015, which record was
false in that it listed the leave address as [[S}EHEGTGGEIEE ::th<r than the actual foreign destination,
and was then known by the said Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin to be so false.



Continuation of DD FORM 45?-1-(‘\0 U.S. v. LCDR EDWARD LIN, USN -

CHARGE 1V, VIOLATION OF TH. . CMJ, ARTICLE 134

Specification 1 (Communicating Defense Information): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy,
Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about 21 August
2015, having lawful access to information relating to the national defense of the United States, which information the said
Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, had reason to believe could be used to the injury of the United
States or to the advantage of a foreign nation, knowingly and willfully communicate information relative to the national
defense to a person not entitled to receive said information in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 793(d), an
offense not capital.

Specification 2 (Communicating Defense Information): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy,
Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about 25 August
2015, having lawful access to information relating to the national defense of the United States, which information the said
Licutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, had reason to believe could be used to the injury of the United
States or to the advantage of a foreign nation, knowingly and willfully communicate information relative to the national
defense to a person not entitled to receive said information in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 793(d), an
offense not capital.

Specification 3 (Communicating Defense Information): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy,
Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about 1 September
2015, having lawful access to information relating to the national defense of the United States, which information the said
Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, had reason to believe could be used to the injury of the United
States or to the advantage of a foreign nation, knowingly and willfully communicate information relative to the national
defense to a person not entitled to receive said information in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 793(d), an
offense not capital.

Specification 4 (Communicating Defense Information): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S, Navy,
Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI, on or about 4 September
2015, having lawful access to information relating to the national defense of the United States, which information the said
Licutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, had reason to believe could be used to the injury of the United
States or to the advantage of a foreign nation, knowingly and willfully communicate information relative to the national
defense to a person not entitled to receive said information in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 793(d), an
offense not capital.

Specification 5 (Communicating Defense Information): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy,
Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, Hi, on or about 9 September
2015, having lawful access to information relating to the national defense of the United States, which information the said
Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, had reason to believe could be used to the injury of the United
States or to the advantage of a foreign nation, knowingly and willfully communicate information relative to the national
defense to a person not entitled to receive said information in violation of Title |8, United States Code, Section 793(d), an
offense not capital.

pi
Specification 6 (Prostitution - Patronizing): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.§; Na il

Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI, on diygrs og a’:J;,;,mf.""j;[ bout
October 2014 to about March 2015, wrongfully procure [[EJJISHIl to engage in an acts O¥EEREA] imerf ol cq'or hire and
reward with the accused, such conduct being to the prejudice pf good Grder and-discipline jn the armed forces and of a
nature to bring discredit upon the armed forces. v '

-
Specification 7 (Adulte ommander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S. Navy, Commander Patrol and
Reconnaissapeefifo -d},:» ettVe duty, n married man, did, at or near Norfolk, Virginia and Flushing, New York, on
drogrs »@}_ﬁs- sehween about January 2011 and about July 2015, wrongfully have sexual intercourse with Ms, Zhen
;2 woman not his wife, such conduct being to the prejudice of good order and discipline in the armed forces and of a
nature to bring discredit upon the armed forces.

AND NO OTHERS
4




CHARGE SHEET

[ I. PERSONAL DATA
1. NAME OF ACCUSED (Las!, Firsl, M) 2 SSN 3. RANK/IRATE 4. PAY GRADE
LIN, Edward C. L. - LCDR 0-4
5. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION 6_CURRENT SERVICE
a. INITIAL DATE b. TERM
Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group 22 Dec 1999 Indefinite
7. PAY PERMONTH 8. NATURE OF RESTRAINT OF ACCUSED | 9. DATE(S) IMPOSED
a. BASIC | b. SEAJFOREIGN DUTY c TOTAL

Pre-Trial Confinement September 11, 2015 - Present

£7,449.30 $0.00 $7,449.30
Il. CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS
ADDITIONAL

10. CHARGE VIOLATICON OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 92

Specification (Violation of a Lawful General Order): In that Lieutenant Commander Edward C. L. Lin, U.S.
Navy, Commander Patrol and Reconnaissance Group, on active duty, did, at or near Pearl Harbor, HI, from about
February 2014 to about September 2015, fail to obey a lawful general order, to wit: SECNAV M-5510.30,
paragraph 3-8, dated June 2006, as incorporated into SECNAVINST 5510.30B, dated 6 October 2006, by

wrongfully failing to report foreign connections to his security manager.

AND NO OTHERS

Ill. PREFERRAL

“11a, NAME OF ACCUSER (Last, First, Ml) - b. GRADE ¢. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER
LCDR/O-4 ] Uniled States Fleet Forces Command
e. DATE
L O  May 2016
: e undersigned, au y law to administer oaths in cases of this character, personally appeared lhe
above named accuser this _ g7 _day o MAY , 20_16 , and signed the foregoing charges and specifications

under oath that he/she is a person subject 1o the Uniform Code of Military Justice and that he/she either has personal knowledge of or
has investigated the matters set forth therein and that the same are true lo the best of his’her knowledge and belief.

United States Fleet Forces Command
Crganization of Officer

Typed Name of Officer
CDR, JAGC, USN Deputy Fleet Judge Advocate

Official Capacity to Administer Oaths
{See R C.M. 307(b)~-mus! be commissioned offices)

S/N 0102-LF-000-4580



12. On 118 Ma 16 | the accused was informed of the cha gainst him/her and of the name(s} of
the accuser(s) known lo me. (See ~.C.M. 308(a}}. (See R.C.M. 308 if nolificalion cannot bt made.)

Region Legal Service Office Mid-Atlantic
Typed Name Organizalion

CDR, JAG, USN

IV. RECEIPT BY SUMMARY COURT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY

13. The swom charges were received at || @5_ hours, _q_lj Q_\{ 20 jp  al
Designation of Command or

United States Fleet Forces Command
Officer Exercising Summary Court-Martial Jurisdiction (See R.C.M. 403)
Commander, United States Fleet Forces

FOR THE Command

Fleet Judge Advocate
Official Capacity of Officer Signing

Typed Name of Officer

CAPT, JAGC, USN

V. REFERRAL; SERVICE OF CHARGES

“14a. DESIGNATION OF COMMAND OF CONVENING AUTHORITY | b. PLACE | c. DATE
United States Fleet Forces Command NSA Norfolk, VA ID Moy 2-016
L]
Referred for trial fothe  General court-martial convened by General Court-Martial

Convening Order 1A-15

24 August 20 15 subject to the following instructions:®>  To be tried in
conjunction with the charges preferred on 7 April 2016, ICO Edward C.L. Lin

By I _ Of
Command or Order
P.S. Davidson Commander
Typed Name of Officer Official Capacity of Officer Signing
]
15. On r;’[ M _ .20 I o , I {(caused to be) served a copy hereof on (each of) the above named accused
EPHENS _Commander, U.S. Navy

Grade or Rank of Trial Counsel

FOOTNOTES 1 - When an appropnate commander signs personally, inapplicable words are siricken.
2 —-See RC M 601{e} concaming instructions. If none. 5o slate

DD Forim 458 Reverse



DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL
NAVY AND MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY
CENTRAL JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

UNITED STATES
ADDENDUM TO PRETRIAL
v. AGREEMENT PART I

EDWARD C. L. LIN 26 April 2017
LCDR USN

1. I understand that in return to agreement to this pretrial
agreement, my plea to Charge IV, Specification 2 involves major
changes to the Specification. I have discussed this plea with
my Defense Counsel and changing the nature of the Specification
is in my interest. 1In consideration for the benefits of this
agreement, I waive objection to the major change of the time and
site of the Specification. Further, I affirmatively waive any
procedural objection related to this Specification as excepted
and substituted, including a right to preferral, notice, an
Article 32, UCMJ, preliminary hearing, Article 34, UCMJ advice,
referral, service, the five-day waiting period, and arraignment.
Pursuant to the terms of this agreement, I agree this
Specification as excepted and substituted is rightfully before
this Court for acceptance of my plea.



SIGNATURE PAGE

By my signature below I acknowledge that I have read this
agreement completely, I have discussed it with my counsel, I
understand it in all respects, and I am prepared to abide by its
terms.

Accused: Date: 2 | APR 2017

Edward C. L. Lin
LCDR
UsSN

Date: 15.’;"/4 ???a?df“?

Defense Counsel

Mr. Larr oungner, Esquire

Defense Counsel Date: ZZAprid

Date: B ey (7

Defense Counse

Daniel M. y” Bridges
LT, JAGC, USN

The foregoing pretrial agreement is approved, including the
sentence limitation portion of this agreement.

pate: JFART

Convening Authority
SN

For P. S. Davidson
ADM, USN
Commanding



GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL
NAVY~-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY
CENTRAL JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

UNITED STATES

T MEMORANDUM OF
PRETRIAL AGREEMENT
Edward C. L. Lin (Part I)
LCDR
U.S. Navy

B e e e

I, LCDR Edward C. L. Lin, USN, the accused in the court-martial
now pending, in exchange for good consideration and after
thorough consultation with my defense counsel, do fully
understand and agree to the following terms and conditions:

r i I agree to enter pleas of GUILTY as indicated below. I
assert that I am, in fact, guilty of the offenses to which I am
pleading guilty and I am entering into this agreement freely and
voluntarily and no one has threatened or coerced me into
entering this agreement.

L This agreement (Parts I and II) constitutes all the
conditions and understandings of both the government and me
regarding the plea in this case. There are no other agreements,
written, oral or otherwise implied.

3 I understand that the convening authority in this case may
approve any sentence adjudged by the court-martial, or any
automatic sentence or portion thereof, but shall order executed
only that sentence which does not exceed the lesser of the
sentence contained in Part II of this agreement or the sentence
adjudged by this court-martial. I also understand that the
sentence limitation portion of this agreement addresses, each of
the following distinct parts of the sentence that may be
adjudged in this case: (1) punitive discharge, (2) confinement
and restraint, (3) forfeiture and fine, (4) reduction in pay
grade, and (5) any other lawful punishment that may be adjudged.

q. I am satisfied with my defense counsel, CDR Chris Czaplak,
JAGC, USN and LT Clay Bridges, JAGC, USN, and civilian defense
counsel, Mr. Larry Youngner, Esquire in all respects and

consider them qualified to represent me at this court-martial.



5% I understand that I may ask permission to withdraw my pleas
of guilty at any time before they are actually accepted by the
military judge. I also understand that I may ask to withdraw my
pleas of guilty after they have been accepted but before
sentence is announced, and the military judge may permit me to
do so at his/her discretion.

6. I understand that this pretrial agreement may become null
and void, and that the convening authority can withdraw from
this agreement, if any of the following occur:

a. I fail to plead gquilty as set forth in this agreement;

b. The court refuses to accept my plea/any of my pleas of
guilty;

c. The court sets aside my plea/any of my pleas of guilty
for any reason {(including upon my request) before a sentence is
announced;

d. I fail to satisfy any material term of this agreement; or

e. I fail to plead guilty as required by this agreement at
a rehearing, should one occur.

7. I understand that if this agreement becomes null and void,
then my offer to plead guilty and to enter into this agreement
cannot be used against me in any way to prove whether I am
guilty or not guilty of the charges alleged against me at this
court-martial. In this regard, the offer to plead guilty
includes any statement or proffer made in the course of plea
discussions with the convening authority or any counsel for the
Government, whether in oral or in a written form.

B. Specially Negotiated Provisions. As consideration for this
agreement and after having fully discussed the issue with my
defense counsel:

a. I agree to request and to elect trial and sentencing by
military judge alone, and I waive my right to a trial by
members;

b. I agree not to request, at Government expense, the
presence of any witness located more than 50 miles from the
court-martial location. This provision does not interfere with
my ability to present an effective case in extenuation and

2



©

mitigation. If I have further material to present, I intend to
use alternative means to present this material.

c. The Government and I agree to not object to the Court
receiving telephonic testimony in lieu of live testimony offered
during the sentencing proceeding. This provision does not
preclude objections to the content of the testimony offered.

d. The Government and I agree not to object to relevant
service record documents, relevant command investigation
materials, relevant Naval Criminal Investigative Service
evidentiary material, relevant statements offered by the defense
in extenuation and mitigation, or relevant statements offered by
the Government in aggravation to include written, audio, or
videotaped statements or telephonic testimony of any victim or
relevant witness, or relevant unsworn testimony offered by a
victim in accordance with the R.C.M.s being offered by either
party in the presentencing phase of the trial on the basis of
foundation, hearsay, lack of confrontation, or authenticity.
Each party will provide the other party final witness and
exhibit lists covered by this paragraph at least five (5)
calendar days prior to the scheduled presentencing proceeding.
This provision does not interfere with my ability to present an
effective and complete case in extenuation and mitigation.
Furthermore, the Government and I agree that the following items
of evidence are admissible for consideration during the
providency inquiry and in pre-sentencing. The Government and I
agree not to object to the admissibility of the following
documents:

(1) stipulation of Fact pertaining to PACOM OCA review of
evidence in this case;

(2) Stipulation of Fact pertaining to OPNAV OCA review of
evidence in this case;

(3} Stipulation of Fact pertaining to JSOC OCA review of
evidence in this case;

(4) stipulation of Fact pertaining to AFRICOM OCA review of
evidence in this case;

(5) Complete English translation transcript of the
recording of LCDR Lin’'s meetings with the undercover agent known
as ” on 21 and 25 August 2646 and 1, 4, and 9
September 2 2015”

P per 11 3 27 APRNT

&z‘;&r’ X z 27 Ao 17



o

(6) Copies of the classified materials that form the basis
of Charge I.

(7) Emails between LCDR Lin and [[ESIIIEG
(8) Emails between LCDR Lin and _
(9) Emails between LCDR Lin and ([N

(10) Prosecution Exhibit 1 for Identification, Classified
Excerpts of LCDR Lin’'s statements.

e. I agree, and am fully prepared, to go to trial and offer
to go to trial no later than 4 May 2017. I understand that this
agreement will not be deemed to have been breached if the
Government is unprepared or the judiciary cannot schedule the
trial by that date.

f. I agree to unconditionally waive any Board of Inquiry
that is based on any act or omission reflected in the charges
and specifications that are the subject of this agreement. I
understand that any administrative discharge will be
characterized in accordance with service regulations and may be
under other-than-honorable conditions. I fully understand the
nature and purpose of a Board of Inquiry and the rights that I
would have at such a Board.

g. I specifically agree to waive all motions except those
that are otherwise non-waivable pursuant to R.C.M. 705(c) (1) (B).

h. I understand and agree that, in return for my pleas of
guilty, and following the military judge’s acceptance of my
pleas as set forth below, the convening authority will withdraw
the language, charges and specifications to which I have pled
not guilty. After announcement of the sentence by the military
judge, the withdrawn language, charges and specifications will
be dismissed by the convening authority without prejudice, to
ripen into prejudice upon completion of appellate review in
which the findings and sentence have been upheld.

i. I agree to enter into a stipulation of fact for use
during the providence inquiry and during the pre-sentencing
proceeding, which describes the facts and circumstances
surrounding the offenses to which I am pleading guilty. If I
have any objections to the admissibility of any matters
contained in the stipulation of fact, I will notify trial
counsel prior to signing it. I understand that the failure of
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the parties to reach a mutually agreed upon stipulation of fact
may result in either side withdrawing from this Agreement.

j. Polygraph.

(1) I agree to submit to and cooperate in all debriefings,
to include interviews and polygraph examinations, requested by
the investigators specified by the Convening Ruthority, which
interviews and polygraph examinations shall concern the loss or
disclosure of any classified information for which I have
knowledge or in any matter which my cooperation may be relevant.
I understand that my cooperation shall extend to disclosing my
knowledge of the actual or potential compromise of classified
material or information by my or by any person or entity
whatsoever -~ to include questions about my interactions with
officials from the Taipei Economic and Cultural Representative’s
Office. I also understand that these debriefings may also
include questions typically asked in a polygraph examination for
ascertaining if a person may continue to hold a Top Secret
security clearance.

(2) I agree to answer all questions fully and completely,
both orxally and, where requested, in writing, to the best of my
knowledge and belief. I will submit to as many debriefings, to
include interviews and polygraph examinations, at such times and
places as may be specified by the Convening Authority, as are
necessary in the view of the Convening Authority, to ensure that
I have made a full and truthful disclosure as to the above
matters. I understand that my cooperation will extend for a
period of 5 years from the date sentence is imposed on me.

{3) I understand and agree that I may request the presence
of my counsel only during the pre-polygraph interview and
initial rights advisement prior to the polygraph test, but
during the polygraph examination, neither my counsel nor any
persons other than the polygrapher and me will be permitted to
be in the room. I agree to fully cooperate with investigators
to resolve any issues arising from polygraph examination results
indicating that I have provided deceptive or no opinion
responses to any questions. I understand that such cooperation
may extend to additional debriefings, to include interviews and
polygraph examinations. I also understand that if I continue to
provide deceptive or no opinion responses to any questions,
based on the opinion of the polygraph examiner, that opinion and
the responses shall be conveyed to the Convening Authority.
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(4) I understand that if information is given to the
Convening Authority indicating that I have violated the
provisions of subparagraphs (1) - (3) of paragraph “j” of this
agreement after trial but prior to his having taken action on
the record of trial, the Convening Authority may, after first
complying with notice and hearing requirements consistent with
Article 72, UCMJ and R.C.M. 1109, withdraw from the sentence
limitation provisions of this agreement, I further understand
that should the Convening Authority withdraw from the sentence
limitation provisions of this agreement that any provisions in
the pretrial agreement relating to suspension of any aspect of
my sentence would become null and veid in all respects, and that

the entire sentence adjudged at my court-martial may be approved
and imposed upon me.

(5) I understand that if information is given to the
Convening Authority that I have violated the provisions of
subparagraphs (1) -~ (3) of paragraph “j” after the date of the
Convening Authority's action, but before I have completed
serving the entire sentence including any period of suspension
or probation as finally approved and executed, the Convening
Authority may, after complying with the procedures set forth in
R.C.M. 1109, vacate any periods of suspension agreed to in this
pretrial agreement or as otherwise approved by the Convening
Authority. I understand that should the convening authority
take such action, the previously suspended portion of my
sentence could be imposed upon me.

{6) T understand that I will be entitled to present
evidence based on a polygraph examination from an independent
source if, during a hearing conducted pursuant to subparagraphs
(4) or (5) of paragraph “j” the Convening Authority wants to
consider the results of polygraph examinations, including a
polygraph examiner's opinion that I provided deceptive or no
opinion responses and the basis for those opinions. I
understand that if I elect to have such an examination, the
Convening Authority has agreed to provide an alternative
polygraph examination from a different polygrapher from a
different Department of Defense approved organization as
specified in DoD Directive 5210.48 (April 24, 2015). I also
understand that the alternative source polygrapher must hold, or
be able to gain, the necessary security clearance in accordance
with current regulations. I aqree that the results and charts
of any independent polygraph examination paid for by the
Convening Authority will be forwarded te the Convening Authority
for the Convening Authority’s review.
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(7} I understand that the Convening Authority shall provide
me with a grant of testimonial immunity for any information I
provide to government agents during debriefings, including

interviews and polygraph examinations, conducted pursuant to
this agreement.

(B} I agree to complete the polygraph rights waiver form
pursuant to DoD Instruction 5210.91 (Incorporating Change 1,
Effective October 15, 2013) prior to taking a polygraph
examination referred to above. Although my only obligation
under this provision is to complete the polygraph rights waiver
form, I understand that should I not give my consent to the
polygraph on the rights waiver form, I still may be found in
violation of a different portion of this agreement because of my
failure to cooperate. I also understand that because of the
grant of immunity I will be given by the convening authority, I
am not able to invoke the privilege against self-incrimination
provided for on the polygraph rights waiver form. I understand
that though I may have the right to consult with counsel as
provided for on the polygraph rights waiver form, I also
understand that I remain obligated under this agreement to
cooperate fully and completely in answering all questions put to
me during any polygraph that I am administered as part of this
agreement.

g. Notification Provisions. I have been advised of the
following potential consequences of my pleas of gquilty and
resultant convictions: My defense counsel has advised me that my
pleas of quilty may adversely affect my ability to receive
retirement pay and any and all other benefits accrued as a
result of my military service under the Hiss Act, 5 U.S5.C. §
8312.
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PLEAS OF THE ACCUSED

CHARGE

PLEAS

Charge I: Violation of Article 92

Specification 1

Specification 2 (formerly
Specification 4)

Charge II: Violation of Article 1l06a
Specification 1
Specification 2
Specification 3
Specification 4

Specification 5

GUILTY

GUILTY, excepting the words
“paragraph 9-3, dated June
2006, as incorporated into
SECNAVINST 5510.36A, dated
6 October 2006, by
wrongfully transporting
material classified as
SECRET” substituting the
words “paragraph 7-10,
dated June 2006, as
incorporated into
SECNAVINST 5510.36A, dated
6 October 2006, by
wrongfully failing to
ensure material classified
as SECRET was kept under
constant surveillance by an
authorized person” to the
excepted words NOT GUILTY,
to the substituted words
GUILTY, to the
specification as excepted
and substituted GUILTY

GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

NOT GUILTY




Charge III: Violation of Article 107

Specification 1 (formerly
Specification 2)

Specification 2 (formerly
Specification 3}

Charge IV: Violation of Article 134

Specification 1

Specification 2

Specification 3
Specification 4
Specification 5

Additional Charge: Violation of
Article 92

Specification

GUILTY

GUILTY

GUILTY

GUILTY

GUILTY, excepting the words
“on or about 21 August
2015,"” substituting the
words “from on or about
August 2015 to on or about
September 2015,” to the
excepted words NOT GUILTY,
to the substituted words
GUILTY, to the
specification as excepted
and substituted GUILTY

GUILTY, excepting the words
“Pearl Harbor, HI, on or
about 1 September 2015,”
substituting the words
“Washington, DC, from about
April 2012 to May 2014” to
the excepted words NOT
GUILTY, to the substituted
words GUILTY, to the
specification as excepted
and substituted GUILTY

NOT GUILTY
NOT GUILTY
NOT GUILTY

GUILTY

GUILTY




SIGNATURE PAGE

By my signature below I acknowledge that I have read this
agreement completely, I have discussed it with my counsel, I
understand it in all respects, and I am prepared to abide by its
terms.

Accused:

pate: _I3 AR 2017

Edward C. L. Lin
LCDR
USN

Defense Couns Date: 3 MA~] 2p3-

Mr. Larry Youngner, Esquire

Defense Counsel:

Date: /3 Qe I'f

Defense Counsel Date: 3 May [

ni

‘ ridges
LT, JAGC, USN

The foregoing pretrial agreement is approved, including the
sentence limitation portion of this agreement.

Convening Authorit
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GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL
NAVY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY
CENTRAL JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

UNITED STATES
V. MEMORANDUM OF
PRETRIAL AGREEMENT

Edward C. L. Lin (Paxt II)

LCDR
U.S. Navy

The convening authority in this case may approve and order
executed any lawfully adjudged sentence awarded by this court-
martial, or any automatic sentence or portion thereof, except as
specifically limited below:

1. Punitive Discharge: May be approved as adjudged.

2. Confinement: May be approved as adjudged. However, all
confinement in excess of 6 years will be suspended for the
period of confinement adjudged plus 24 months thereafter, at
which time, unless sooner vacated, the suspended portion will be
remitted without further action. I agree that due to my
operational knowledge and previous access to classified
operations, an extended confinement suspension length for the
period “confinement adjudged plus 24 months thereafter” is
reasonable under these circumstances. This Agreement
constitutes my request for, and the Convening Authority’s
approval of, deferment of all confinement suspended pursuant to
the terms of this Agreement. The period of deferment will run
from the date of sentence of the court-martial until the date
the convening authority acts on the sentence.

3. Forfeiture or Fine: May be approved as adjudged.

4. Other lawful punishments: May be approved as adjudged.
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SIGNATURE PAGE

I fully understand, and have discussed with my counsel, how this
agreement will affect any sentence that I may be awarded by the
court-martial.

Accused: Date: (2 AMR 2017

Edward C. L. L
LCDR
USN

Defense Counsel: Date: 3 MAi12p1F

r, Esquire

Date: /3Aprl¥

Date: 3 oy, 1>

The foregoing pretrial agreement is approved, including the
sentence limitation portion of this agreement.

Convening Authorit




DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL
NAVY AND MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY

CENTRAL JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
UNITED STATES
STIPULATION OF FACT
Y.
26 April 2017

EDWARD C. L. LIN
LCDR USN

1. In accordance and satisfaction with the pre-trial agreement in the above captioned case, it is
hereby agreed by and between Trial Counsel and Defense Counsel, with the express consent of
the accused, that the following facts, including the facts contained in an addendum to this
stipulation that is classified SECRET (hereinafter “addendum™) are true, accurate, susceptible of
proof, and are admissible into evidence without regard to any evidentiary rule, applicable case
law, or Rule for Courts-Martial. The accused specifically admits the following facts accurately
reflect his actions, the government could prove these facts beyond a reasonable doubt, and
hereby waives any objection he may have to the admission of these facts and evidence.
Although the accused may not have observed or have first-hand knowledge of all the following
facts, the accused does not dispute them and hereby agrees they are true. The military judge may
consider these facts in determining the providence of the accused’s pleas and in determining an
appropriate sentence. The Charges and Specifications as listed in this document refer to the
original numbering of the Charges and Specifications on the referred charge sheet.

2. 1, LCDR Edward Lin, USN, the accused in this case, was commissioned in the United States
Navy on 10 May 2002 and have been on continuous active duty through the date of this court-
martial, without discharge or release.

3. I have not at any time suffered from any mental defect or disease that caused me to commit
the offenses to which I am pleading guilty. I was the subject of an examination in accordance
with R.C.M. 706 and was found to be mentally responsible at the time of the offenses. [ was not
forced or coerced to commit the offenses, nor did [ commit the offenses to save myself or anyone
else from death or grievous bodily harm. If [ wanted to, I could have avoided committing these
acts. [ had no legal authority to commit these acts. | was not an agent of the Government that
was authorized to perform these acts as part of an investigation.

4. Charge I, Specifications | and 2 and Additional Charge and its Sole Specification, which
allege violations of Article 92, UCMJ:

a. SECNAV M-5510.36 paragraphs 7-10, and 10-3, dated June 2006, as incorporated into
SECNAVINST 5510.36A, dated 6 October 2006 were lawful general orders in effect from 2012
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to 2015. SECNAVINS+ M-5510.30 paragraph 3-8, dated Jun 2006, as incorporated into
SECNAVINST 5510.30B, dated 6 October 2006, was also a lawful general order in effect in
from 2012 to 2015. | had a duty to obey SECNAVINST 5510.30B and SECNAVINST
5510.36A because all service members on active duty in the United States Navy had a duty to
obey them. [ was on active duty in the United States Navy during that time period.

b. [ failed to obey the three listed provisions of SECNAVINST 5510.30B and SECNAVINST
5510.36A, lawful general orders. Specifically, [ violated the three provisions of these general
orders by wrongfully disclosing classified information to a Homeland Security agent at the San
Francisco Airport, by wrongfully storing notebooks with classified material in my home in
Honolulu, Hawaii, and by willfully failing to report contacts with foreign nationals. Those
foreign contacts included agents of a foreign government.

¢. On 12 February 2015, I landed at the San Francisco International Airport on return from
foreign travel. An agent of Homeland Security conducted a border search of my person and
luggage. Ihad two pieces of paper in my bag. They were aircrew kneeboard cards containing
“special instructions” or “SPINs.” They were clearly marked “SECRET when filled in.” They
were filled in. | removed these two pages from secure storage after a deployment mission in
2014. [ was not carrying a courier card. The material was not wrapped or safeguarded according
to regulations governing transport of classified material. When the agent confronted me about
the classified nature of the papers in my possession, | allowed him to confiscate them. [ did not
consult my chain of command or my special security officer to ask the proper course of action. |
do not know whether the agent had the appropriate clearance to view the materials. The agent
did not have a “need to know™ about the information on the papers. [ did not ensure the
materials were destroyed.

d. Upon a search of my home in Honolulu, Hawaii on 11 September 2015, that 1 consented to,
Federal agents found several notebooks. | made notes in the notebooks. I never kept these
notebooks in secure storage. The notes are in my handwriting. Some of the notes contained
national defense information classified at the SECRET level. The notebooks were not marked
SECRET. I was not authorized to store SECRET information in my house.

e. | had contacts with CDR o) )  (0)(5)  [MGEYEN D) (O
d Ms w

CD CDR ere all registered foreign agents of Taiwan.
CDR and CDR were officers in Taiwan’s Navy and were assigned as Assistant Naval
Attaches to the Taipei Economic and Cultural Representative’s Office (TECRO) in Washington,
DC. Ms. [l worked as a research fellow at the Formosa Association for Public Affairs
(FAPA) and as a staff member in the Washington, D.C. office of Taiwan Democratic Progressive
Party (DPP).

f. 1 was introduced to CDR through a classmate of mine at the U.S. Naval War College.
Through CDRJIJ [ met CD I had frequent contact with them over phone, e-mail, and
face to face from 2012 to 2013. At the time I was assigned to the Deputy Assistant Secretary of
the Navy’s office handling Appropriations Matters (FMBE) and my duties did not require or
include for me to officially liaise or maintain contact with CDR CDR [l or any other
foreign official. [ attended several lunches and dinners, meaning more than two, with CDR
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and CDR [l 1 also socialized with CDR [Ji] He visited my house and 1 visited his. Our
families knew each other in a social capacity. CDR [JJJj would often, and CDR [ would
sometimes, contact me with questions about the U.S. Navy. I would answer their questions on
topics that included the impact of Congress’ sequestration and the Navy’s response to it. | also
forwarded CDR [} a PowerPoint brief on mine warfare. Enclosure (1) contains e-mails [ sent
to CDR [jjjij and CDR [} 1 did not report my contacts with CDR [l or CDR 1 had a
duty to report them to my Security Officer as my contacts with CDR and CDR were
close, recurring, and with foreign Naval Officers assigned to the equivalent of a foreign embassy,
specifically TECRO. My contacts with CDR [Jjjijj and CDR [} were so extensive that I cannot
recall everything | spoke to them about and explained as much to NCIS during my 1 1-12
September 2015 interrogation.

g. Isimilarly interacted with Ms. (SIS Ms. Bl is an American citizen whom 1 met
while she was in graduate school at Tufts University around 2008. Though Ms. - was an
American citizen, she was a registered foreign agent of Taiwan while she worked for FAPA.
FAPA was an organization that represented the interests of a Taiwanese political party with the
U.S. Congress. Ms. [l also notified me that she was leaving FAPA for a staff position in the
Washington D.C. office of the Taiwan Democratic Progressive Party (DPP). | met with Ms.
Bl while 1 was assigned to FMBE. My duties did not require or include for me to officially
linise or maintain contact with Ms. [[Jfl] ! did have recurring social contact with Ms.
based on our friendship. I would interact with Ms. [l over phone, e-mail and face to face. |
did not report my contacts with Ms.- to my Security Officer. I had a duty to report them
because she was representing the political interests of Taiwan in her role at FAPA. My contacts
with Ms. [l were so extensive that [ cannot recall everything I spoke to her about and
explained as much to NCIS during my |1-12 September 20135 interrogations.

h. I also had contacts with two women, both Chincse nationals, named and G}
. [ developed a close personal relationship with both women. 1 met in Honolulu,
Hawaii. | had close and recurring contacts with her while 1 was stationed in Hawaii and | visited
her in California. My close contacts with- included providing some financial support.
I met [{§i§J online. 1 had close and recurring contacts withi to include speaking
with her and correspondence over social media. We also communicated about meeting in person
during my planned September 2015 trip to China. Idid not report these contacts. I had a duty,
however, to report these contacts to my Security Officer and [ did not do that.

5. Charge 11, Specifications | and 2:

a. On or about 31 October 2013 I electronically signed a leave request that stated my leave
address was which was my home. That clectronic lcave
request was an official document because it was submitted through a Navy website to authorize
me to use leave | had accrued. An approved request would also authorize me to be away from
my normal duties at FMBE. The electronic leave request was totally false because I travelled to
Taiwan during that leave period instead of my home ini During the leave
period, I met with the Taiwanese equivalent Chief of Naval Operations, Vice Admiral [[S}EH

I | did ot notify any U.S. official or agency that | was meeting
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VADM Prior to taking the trip, 1 contacted CDR [} to help arrange an office call for me
with VADM [ intentionally put a false leave address on my request.

b. On or about 29 Airil 2015 [ electronically signed a leave request that stated my leave

address was which was my home. That electronic leave
request was an official document because it was submitted through a Navy website to authorize
me to use leave I had accrued. The request would also authorize me to be away from my normal
dutics at VPU-2. The electronic leave request was totally falsc because I planned to travel to
China during that leave period instead of to my home in [[SJSH ! intentionally put a
false leave address on my leave request. On 11 September 2015, | proceeded to the Honolulu
international Airport with a ticket to Shanghai, China in hand and my passport with full intent to
travel to China.

6. Charge 1V, Specifications 1-2:

a. 18 U.S.C. 793(d) is a Federal statute that applied to me in April 2012 to May 2014, and
August to September of 2015. During that time, [ lawfully had access to information relating to
the national defense, which [ had reason to believe could cause injury to the United States if
disclosed and/or could aid a foreign power if disclosed. By information relating to the national
defense, [ mean information relating to the capabilities of Special Projects Patrol Squadron TWO
(VPU-2) and details of U.S. Pacific Fleet activities that were closely held. The information was
closely held because only people assigned to VPU-2, the U.S. Pacific Fleet, or who otherwise
had a need to know, were given access to this information.

b. Much of this national defense information was also contained in the Special Projects Patrol
Squadron Program Manual, which delineated what information was classified. I also received
training when [ checked in to VPU-2 not to discuss the details of my work with members of the
public or even members of the military who were not granted access to this information. I had
reason to believe disclosing this information could injure the United States because of my
training, specifically that disclosing this information would degrade the ability of the VPU
community to conduct its mission.

c. During my assignment to United States Pacific Fleet (PACFLT), I had access to closely
held information that related to U.S. Pacific Fleet activities in the PACOM AOR. Some of that
information was classified SECRET by the PACOM Original Classification Authority. While
assigned to PACFLT and JTF 519, | had lawful access to the plan and participated in an exercise
of the Plan as part of JTF 519. I understood, because of my training and experience in the Navy
and the nature of the circumstances of the exercise, that all details of the Plan, including any
assumptions, were closely held by the U.S. Navy. I knew this while assigned to JTF 519 and
nothing occurred to change this in 2012 — 2014.

d. | communicated national defense information to a person not entitled to receive it,
specifically a woman [ believed was an immigrant from Taiwan known to me as *
After meeting with Ms. . a couple of times, [ believed she was hired as a contractor by
Taiwan’s Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 1 later learned that Ms. [ was an undercover FBI agent
and her name [[SJ S 25 an alias to protect her true identity as an FBI agent. 1 met
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with Ms. [l on five occasions in August and September of 2015. I met with her in Starbucks
and other restaurants in Honolulu, HI. During the conversations 1 had with her from August
2015 to September 2015, I disclosed information contained in the addendum to this stipulation.
Ms. [l never asked me to reveal national defense information during our conversation. She did
provide opportunities for me to discuss my knowledge as a Navy officer. [ knowingly tried to
impress her with my knowledge of the US Navy, my deployment experience and our US Navy
capabilities. Based on my education, training, and military operational assignments and
knowledge, I knew that certain information [ communicated to Ms. - was closely held national
defense information and I should not have disclosed that information to Ms. [ 2 person not
entitled to receive it. Even if the undercover FBI agent | knew as Ms.. had a SECRET
clearance, she did not have a need to know. The addendum contains the particular information
that was closely held by the U.S. government and communicating it to someone who was not
entitled to receive it could degrade the ability of the Navy to conduct its mission. I reasonably
should have known that this communication could be used to injure the US or aid a foreign
power because my status as a Naval Officer could confirm the details of the closely held
information. [ knew at the time that my communication was unlawful because | had been given
access to information that was closely held and | was trained not to disclose such information
and the Navy had not declassified nor authorized disclosure of this particular national defense
information. 1 made a conscious choice to communicate the covered information. Because of my
training and the regulations that applied to me and to my command, I knew at the time |
communicated the information contained in enclosure (1) to - - that communicating
this information to her was unlawful.

e. I communicated national defense information to a person not entitled to receive it,
specifically Ms. [[NE) I ! met with Ms. [fJif} on more than one occasion and e-mailed with
her while [ was assigned to FMBE between 2012 and 2014. [ knew Ms. was representing
the political interests of Taiwan in her role at FAPA and DPP. Ms. would forward me
open-source articles and ask my opinion on them. During the conversations I had with her from
April 2012 to May 2014, I disclosed information contained in the addendum to this stipulation.
Based on my education, training, and military operational assignments and knowledge, | knew
that certain information 1 discussed with Ms. - was closely held national defense
information. [ knew this while assigned to JTF 519 and nothing occurred to change this in 2012
—2014. [ knew this when I communicated the covered information to (S [l and made a
conscious choice to do so. [ knew at the time that my communication was unlawful because | had
been given access to information that was based on assumptions necessary for the plan, was told
not to disclose them and the Navy had not declassified the plan. The addendum contains the
particular information that was closely held by the U.S. government and communicating it to
someone who was not entitled to receive it would degrade the ability of the U.S. Pacific Fleet to
conduct its missiorl.-- was not entitled to receive the information because she was not
read in to the Plan and did not have a need to know. [ reasonably should have known that this
communication could be used to injure the US or aid a foreign power because my status as a
Naval Officer who had been assigned to JTF 519 could confirm the details of the closely held
information. | made a conscious choice to communicate the covered information. Because of my
training and the regulations that applied to me when I stationed at PACFLT, I knew at the time [
communicated the information in enclosure (1) to [{SJiEl Bl that communicating this
information to her was unlawful.
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Date: 2 [ APR 2017

Edward C. L. Lin
LCDR, USN
Accused

Date: A AR KN T

Date: ,{?/{?‘ﬂ?

CDR, JAGC, USN
Defense Counsel

Date: 3 oy (7

Defense Counsel

Date: -3 A7 I
ichael J. Luken (j
CJ{.PT, JAGC, USN
Trial Counsel

Date: 29/Apeil 13
Angela Tang
CDR, JAGC, USN
Trial Counsel
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